## RECEIVED

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

## 01-29-2019

## COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

## DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP1593-CR & 2018AP1594-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANTONIO L. BELL,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Orders Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable David Borowski & Carolina Stark, Presiding.

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

DUSTIN C. HASKELL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1071804

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 haskelld@opd.wi.gov

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Antonio Bell's fourteen-year-old step-daughter, SE, accused him of sexually assaulting her. SE later tested positive for chlamydia. The State was unable to prove that Mr. Bell had chlamydia. Mr. Bell subsequently pled no contest to the assault, but told the court he was only doing so because his attorney was not pursuing a particular defense. Mr. Bell filed a postconviction motion, arguing that counsel was ineffective for failing to interview and subpoena SE's boyfriend, who also tested positive for chlamydia. The motion argued that trial counsel should have subpoenaed the boyfriend to prove that he was the person who infected SE, not Mr. Bell. The circuit court denied the motion without a hearing. Did the motion allege sufficient facts to entitle Mr. Bell to relief, thereby requiring an evidentiary hearing?

The circuit court denied Mr. Bell's motion without a hearing.

2. Mr. Bell's nine-year-old daughter, CB, also accused him of assault, but recanted that accusation before Mr. Bell pled no contest. After Mr. Bell was sentenced, CB provided a second recantation, which included an accusation that SE's boyfriend assaulted her, and that he told her to accuse Mr. Bell. The

circuit court denied Mr. Bell's postconviction motion for plea withdrawal based on newly discovered evidence. Did the motion allege sufficient facts to entitle Mr. Bell to relief, thereby requiring an evidentiary hearing?

The circuit court denied Mr. Bell's motion without a hearing.

# POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Bell does not request publication because this case can be decided by applying settled precedent to the facts of the case. The facts of this case are straightforward, but counsel welcomes oral argument if the court would find it helpful.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 8, 2011, the State filed a complaint charging Antonio Bell with one count of first-degree sexual assault of a child, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b). (1.)<sup>1</sup> The alleged victim was Mr. Bell's nine-year-old daughter, CB. (1.) CB alleged Mr. Bell had anal sex with her; CB tested positive for rectal chlamydia. (1.)

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$  All citations to the record in these consolidated cases are to the record in Case No. 2018AP1593-CR, unless otherwise indicated.

On August 22, 2011, the State filed a complaint in a second matter, charging Mr. Bell with one count of first-degree sexual assault of a child and one count of second-degree sexual assault of a child, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(e) and (2). (2018AP1594, 1.) The complaint alleged that Mr. Bell sexually assaulted his fourteen-year-old step-daughter, SE. (*Id.*) SE reported that Mr. Bell touched her vagina over her clothing when she was seven years old. (*Id.*) The complaint also alleged that Mr. Bell forced an act of vaginal intercourse approximately one month before the complaint was filed. (*Id.*) Finally, the complaint alleged that SE tested positive for chlamydia. (*Id.*)

The two cases were joined in the trial court on the State's motion. (5.) Mr. Bell's attorney challenged joinder, and pointed out that SE's boyfriend, AC, had chlamydia, and argued that he may have been guilty of the assaults, rather than Mr. Bell. (100:8-9; 102:8-10.)<sup>2</sup> The State's theory was that AC contracted chlamydia from SE, who got it from Mr. Bell, even though the State could not prove that Mr. Bell had the disease. (102:10-11.) The State insisted that chlamydia was easy to treat, but conceded it had no evidence that Mr. Bell ever tested positive. (102:11.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In the circuit court, the parties mistakenly use the wrong name when referring to the boyfriend. They refer to him by a name with initials PM. Discovery included in Mr. Bell's postconviction motion shows that the boyfriend's name should be abbreviated AC.

The court granted the State's motion to join the cases. (103:8.) Subsequently, trial counsel withdrew and a new attorney was appointed. Mr. Bell's new attorney informed the court that he was aware of the possible issue concerning AC, but was still investigating. (106:3-4.)

A jury trial was scheduled for April 29, 2013. (108:5.) The Friday before trial was set to begin, Mr. Bell entered into a plea agreement to resolve both cases. He pled no contest to second-degree sexual assault of a child as to CB, and third-degree sexual assault as to SE. In exchange for his pleas, the State agreed to make a global sentencing recommendation of 10-12 years of confinement, followed by 7-10 years of extended supervision. (109:3-4.) At the plea hearing, the court asked the prosecutor to explain the reasons for the charging amendments. (109:3, 11.) Although the State still believed it could prove its case, it acknowledged that CB had recanted, and conceded that it could not prove Mr. Bell ever had chlamydia. (109:10-11.)

CB's recantation took place on May 24, 2012, when she was ten years old. (79:13-14; App. 150-51.) Police interviewed CB at the urging of her mother, who was "concerned [CB] is going to completely recant." (*Id.*) During the interview, CB said that her aunt Tammy—whom she calls "tee tee"—told her to blame Mr. Bell. According to CB, her aunt believed Mr. Bell was responsible for the assault because CB "kept on crying when they were asking her who did it." (*Id.*) However, CB said that her previous

accusation that "her dad humped her body" was a lie. (*Id.*) CB did not provide a motive for her false accusation other than saying she "did not want her tee tee to be mad at her." (*Id.*)

In a presentence investigation report, Mr. Bell maintained that he had been falsely accused, and stated that he only pled no contest to spare his children from having to testify. (17:2-3.) He told the PSI author that SE's boyfriend was the actual perpetrator. (17:3.)

At sentencing, defense counsel indicated that in spite of his statements to the PSI author, Mr. Bell did not want to withdraw his plea, but had already asked that an appeal be initiated. (110:4.) Mr. Bell confirmed that he wanted to proceed to sentencing. (110:5-6.)

During his allocution, Mr. Bell maintained his innocence and complained that no one pursued SE's boyfriend as part of any investigation. (110:28, 31.) He also expressed dissatisfaction with his attorney, and explained that he did not request a new attorney because the court previously said it would not grant additional adjournments to the defense. (110:30.)<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Two weeks before Mr. Bell pled no contest, the court advised the parties that it would not adjourn the case again: "Well, it stays on for trial. There was a prior attorney. There have been multiple delays, too many delays. This is one of the older cases on my calendar. I expect both sides to be prepared. I will not adjourn this. If it's going to resolve, it needs to resolve (continued)

The court sentenced Mr. Bell to a total sentence of 12 years in confinement, followed by 8 years of extended supervision. (110:42-43.)

Following sentencing, Mr. Bell postconviction motions to withdraw his pleas.4 (42: 79; App. 119-53). The first motion argued that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate AC as the source of the victims' chlamydia. (42:3-11; App. 121-29.) The motion alleged that postconviction counsel's investigator met with AC, and he admitted that: (1) he was dating SE, (2) they were having intercourse, and (3) he had chlamydia. (42:5; App. 123.) The motion argued that AC, not Mr. Bell, infected SE and CB. Mr. Bell argued that this evidence was admissible under Wisconsin's test to admit third-party-perpetrator evidence, as well as under the rape shield statute. State v. Denny, 120 Wis. 2d 614, 357 N.W.2d 12 (Ct. App. 1984); Wis. Stat. § 972.11(2). Further, the motion alleged that Mr. Bell would have insisted on going to trial had trial counsel interviewed and subpoenaed AC (42:8; App. 126.) The motion argued that this allegation was corroborated by the late date of his plea, and his statements at sentencing and to the PSI author that

before the trial date. I will not take a plea on the day of trial. Like I said there have been too many adjournments, too many delays, most of them related to the defense." (108:4.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The second motion was filed after Mr. Bell voluntarily dismissed his appeal, and this court granted leave to file a second postconviction motion.

his plea was motivated by trial counsel's failure to investigate AC. (42:8; App. 126.)

On July 23, 2015, the court entered an order denying Mr. Bell's postconviction motion without a hearing. (48; App. 107.) The court ruled that "a Denny motion based on the fact that SE's boyfriend, AC, tested positive for chlamydia would not have been successful." (48:5; App. 111.) Because the court ruled that the evidence would not have been admissible under *Denny*, it did not analyze the rape shield statute. Nevertheless, the court decided to reach the question of whether Mr. Bell would have pled no contest, and disbelieved his claim—without hearing testimony—that he would have gone to trial. (48:6; App. 112.) The court relied on (1) trial counsel's pretrial statement that he was aware of the potential Denny evidence, even though there was no evidence he actually pursued that lead, (2) Mr. Bell's statement to the PSI author that his plea was also induced, in part, by his desire to protect the victims from testifying, (3) Mr. Bell's knowledge that his daughter recanted, and (4) his decision at sentencing to not pursue plea withdrawal. (48:6-7; App. 112-13.)

Mr. Bell's second postconviction motion was based on a second, more complete, recantation provided by CB. (79; App. 138.) The motion alleged that Tammy Bell was present for the recantation. (79:3; App. 140.) Based on statements Tammy made to an investigator, the motion alleged that CB would testify that: (1) her father did not sexually assault her, (2) SE's boyfriend told her to blame her father,

and (3) SE's boyfriend was actually the person who had sexual contact with her. (79:3; App. 140.) The motion further alleged that Tammy would testify that she heard CB's recantation on numerous occasions. (79:3; App. 140.)

The motion argued that CB's decidedly more comprehensive recantation—which identified the actual perpetrator and explained the basis for her original false accusation—was newly discovered evidence. (79; App. 138.)

On July 31, 2018, the court entered an order denying Mr. Bell's motion, ruling that CB's "second recantation is not new." (92:4; App. 117.) The court found that Mr. Bell knew of the first recantation before pleading, and the second recantation provided no new exonerating information, it simply offered more details about why CB lied and who assaulted her. (*Id.*) The court further ruled that CB's inculpatory statements against AC were not new because Mr. Bell suspected he was the actual perpetrator before trial. (*Id.*)

Mr. Bell appeals.

#### ARGUMENT

I. Mr. Bell is entitled to an evidentiary hearing because his trial attorney was ineffective for failing to interview and subpoena a third-party perpetrator.

Mr. Bell seeks an evidentiary hearing on his first plea withdrawal motion because the motion alleged sufficient facts to require a *Machner*<sup>5</sup> hearing. The motion alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate evidence that SE's boyfriend, AC, had chlamydia. This evidence would have supported a defense that AC, not Mr. Bell, was responsible for assaulting and infecting SE and CB. Mr. Bell was prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to investigate AC because Mr. Bell would have gone to trial had counsel pursued this evidence, and been prepared to present it at trial.

A. Mr. Bell is entitled to an evidentiary hearing if his postconviction motion alleged facts that, if true, would entitle him to relief.

If a postconviction motion alleges material facts that, if true, would entitle the defendant to relief, "the circuit court must hold an evidentiary hearing."  $State\ v.\ Allen,\ 2004\ WI\ 106,\ \P\ 9,\ 274\ Wis.\ 2d\ 568,\ 682\ N.W.2d\ 433$  (emphasis added). Even if the allegations

 $<sup>^5</sup>$  State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

in the motion "seem to be questionable in their believability," the court must assume the facts as true. Id., ¶ 12 n.6. Whether the motion alleged facts sufficient to warrant relief is a question of law, which this court reviews de novo. Id., ¶ 12.

B. Mr. Bell is entitled to withdraw his plea as a matter of right to correct a manifest injustice.

In the present case, Mr. Bell is entitled to withdraw his pleas because he was denied the effective assistance of counsel. The only question on appeal is whether his postconviction motion alleged facts that would allow him to withdraw his plea.

After sentencing, a defendant is entitled to withdraw his guilty or no contest plea when doing so is necessary to correct a manifest injustice. State v. Hoppe, 2009 WI 41, ¶ 60, 317 Wis. 2d 161, 765 N.W.2d 794. "The manifest injustice test can be satisfied by a showing that the defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel." State v. Wesley, 2009 WI App 118, ¶ 22, 231 Wis. 2d 151, 772 N.W.2d 232. When a plea withdrawal motion and assistance ofcounsel ineffective motion intertwined, the defendant must allege a prima facie case of ineffective assistance of counsel. Id., ¶ 23.

To establish deficient performance, the defendant must show "facts from which a court could conclude that counsel's representation was below the objective standard of reasonableness." Id., ¶ 23. "To establish prejudice, the defendant must show facts

from which a court could conclude that its confidence in a fair result is undermined." *Id.* In plea withdrawal cases, "in order to satisfy the 'prejudice' requirement, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985). The "reasonable probability" standard does not even require a showing of a preponderance of the evidence. *State v. Dillard*, 2014 WI 123, ¶ 103, 358 Wis. 2d 543, 859 N.W.2d 44.

A deficiency affecting either of Mr. Bell's convictions requires plea withdrawal in both cases because they were entered pursuant to a global plea agreement. "Wisconsin case law clearly holds that a defendant's repudiation of a portion of the plea agreement constitutes a repudiation of the entire plea agreement." *State v. Lange*, 2003 WI App 2, ¶ 32, 259 Wis. 2d 774, 656 N.W.2d 480. Therefore, the court should vacate the entire plea agreement and reinstate the original charges against Mr. Bell. *Id*.

C. Mr. Bell's postconviction motion alleged sufficient facts to prove that his trial attorney was ineffective for failing to investigate evidence of a third-party perpetrator.

Trial counsel performed deficiently by failing to pursue a lead that a third party was responsible for assaulting SE and CB, and for giving them chlamydia. Specifically, trial counsel failed to locate and interview AC, SE's boyfriend. AC, also identified in police reports as "Shay Shay," was dating SE and they were sexually active at the time of the alleged assault (they were 14-15 years old at the time). (42:12-13, 18; App. 130-31, 136.) Police reports reflect that AC tested positive for chlamydia, just as SE had. (42:18; App. 136.)

Mr. Bell's first attorney was allegedly investigating AC's involvement before suddenly withdrawing from the case. Mr. Bell's second attorney advised the court that he was aware of a potential issue involving AC, but no pretrial motion was filed, no witness list included AC, and there was no further discussion of the issue on the record.

Trial counsel had a duty to investigate AC. Trial counsel is constitutionally required to "conduct a prompt investigation of the circumstances of the case and to explore all avenues leading to facts relevant to the merits." *State v. Mayo*, 2007 WI 78, ¶ 59, 301 Wis. 2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115 (internal quotations omitted).

Trial counsel's failure to interview AC cannot be attributed to any reasonable trial strategy. "Adequate preparation for trial often may be a more important element in the effective assistance of counsel to which a defendant is entitled than the forensic skill exhibited in the courtroom. The careful investigation of a case and the thoughtful analysis of the information it yields may disclose evidence of

which even the defendant is unaware and may suggest issues and tactics at trial which would otherwise not emerge." *Moore v. United States*, 432 F.2d 730, 735 (3d Cir. 1970). Although the court presumes counsel's decisions to be reasonable, the court will find deficiency where decisions are "based upon caprice rather than upon judgment." *State v. Domke*, 2011 WI 95, ¶ 45,337 Wis. 2d 268, 805 N.W.2d 364.

Counsel's duty to investigate extended to ACinterviewing as a potential third-party perpetrator. Trial counsel had no basis to dispute that SE and CB had chlamydia. A jury would reasonably conclude that they would not have been infected without some type of sexual assault. Thus, the fact that they tested positive for chlamydia corroborated their allegations against Mr. Bell, particularly when coupled with the prosecutor's claim that chlamydia was easily treatable in order to justify its inability to prove that Mr. Bell had chlamydia. Mr. Bell's defense needed to rebut the State's claim that he was the source of the infection. The State's hypothesis was weakened by the lack of evidence that Mr. Bell ever had chlamydia, but that hypothesis would have shattered if the jury were presented with an alternate source for the disease. AC would have supplied that alternate source.

Trial counsel needed to pursue the evidence of a third-party perpetrator as an alternate source in order to rebut the State's assertion that Mr. Bell gave them chlamydia. Evidence that AC had sex with SE, and that he had chlamydia, would have supplied that rebuttal, and offered a strong defense that needed to be pursued. Thus, trial counsel's failure to interview and subpoena AC cannot be attributed to any reasonable trial strategy.

1. Evidence that AC had sexual intercourse with SE would have been admissible third-party perpetrator evidence.

Evidence that AC had sex with SE, coupled with evidence that he tested positive for chlamydia, would have significantly damaged the State's case against Mr. Bell. The State's case rested, in significant part, on the fact that SE and CB tested positive for chlamydia. (109:7-8.) The State was unable to prove that Mr. Bell had, or was treated for chlamydia, but it theorized that there would be no other explanation for the young victims to contract the disease. (102:10-11; 109:11.)

Mr. Bell's constitutional right to present a defense includes the right to present evidence that a third party was responsible for the charged conduct. *Denny*, 120 Wis. 2d 614. Wisconsin courts employ a three-part balancing test when deciding whether a defendant's constitutional right to present a defense requires admission of third-party perpetrator evidence. Under that test, the defendant must show that the third party had: (1) motive to commit the charged crime, (2) an opportunity to commit the charged crime, and (3) a direct connection to the

crime. State v. Scheidell, 227 Wis. 2d 285, 296, 595 N.W.2d 661 (1999). Although a defendant must provide at least minimal evidence satisfying each prong, the court still balances each prong. Evidence supporting one prong may be "so strong that it will affect the evaluation of the other prongs." State v. Wilson, 2015 WI 48, ¶ 64, 362 Wis. 2d 193, 864 N.W.2d 52.

Here, evidence that AC tested positive for chlamydia satisfies each of *Denny's* prongs. First, AC had a clear motive to have sexual intercourse with SE: sexual gratification. They were, by their own admission, two teenagers having sex. (42:15; App. 133.) Although they never stated the specific reasons for their relationship, Denny does not require evidence of a specific or personal motive; even a general motive is sufficient. State v. Vollbrecht, 2012 WI App 90, ¶ 27, 344 Wis. 2d 69, 820 N.W.2d 443. This application of *Denny* is consistent with the reality that motive is often best revealed by a criminal act itself, and is not necessarily articulated by the perpetrator through words or documents. A bank robber is generally motivated by a desire for money or to steal; that motive does not need to be spoken to be apparent. The motive here is equally clear: sexual arousal and gratification.

Second, the fact that AC and SE were actually having intercourse necessarily proves that he had an opportunity to have sex with her. It would only take one act of intercourse for AC to transmit chlamydia to either SE or CB. Thus, this prong is satisfied.

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