RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 05-10-2019

COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case Nos. 2018AP1593-CR & 2018AP1594-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANTONIO L. BELL,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDERS DENYING MOTIONS FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DAVID L. BOROWOSKI, THE HONORABLE DANIEL L. KONKOL, AND THE HONORABLE CAROLINA STARK, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

AARON R. O'NEIL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041818

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The circuit court properly denied Bell's ineffective assistance of counsel claim without a hearing.
 - A. A circuit court can deny a postconviction motion alleging ineffective assistance of counsel without an evidentiary hearing if the record demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief or if the motion is inadequately pleaded.

To withdraw his plea after sentencing, a defendant has to prove a manifest injustice. *State v. Taylor*, 2013 WI 34, ¶ 24, 347 Wis. 2d 30, 829 N.W.2d 482. Ineffective assistance of counsel can constitute a manifest injustice. *Id.* ¶ 49.

A defendant cannot succeed on a claim that counsel was ineffective unless the circuit court first holds an evidentiary hearing to preserve counsel's testimony. *See State v. Machner*, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 804, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

A defendant is not automatically entitled to an evidentiary hearing. To obtain one, the defendant must allege facts in a postconviction motion that "allow the reviewing court to meaningfully assess [the defendant's] claim." *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 21, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433 (quoting *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 314, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996)).

If the petitioner does not raise sufficient facts, if the allegations are merely conclusory, or if the record conclusively shows that the petitioner is not entitled to relief, the trial court has the discretion to deny a request for an evidentiary hearing. *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 309–10.

To show that counsel was ineffective, a defendant must establish both that trial counsel's performance was deficient and that this performance prejudiced his defense. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). To demonstrate deficient performance, a defendant must establish that his or her counsel "made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687.

To establish prejudice when a defendant alleges that counsel's deficiencies led him to plead guilty or no contest, "the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty [or no contest] and would have insisted on going to trial." *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985). "A defendant must do more than merely allege that he would have [pleaded] differently." *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 313.

B. Bell's motion insufficiently alleged deficient performance, and the record demonstrated that his attorneys were not deficient.

This Court should conclude that Bell was not entitled to a hearing on his allegations of deficient performance for two reasons. First, his motion failed to allege what evidence his attorneys should have found about AC that Bell did not already know when he entered his pleas. Second, the evidence that AC had chlamydia and had sex with SE would have been inadmissible, and thus, the record demonstrates that Bell's lawyers were not deficient for failing to try to admit it.

1. Bell's motion failed to allege what new information counsel could have uncovered by further investigating AC.

In his postconviction motion, Bell asserted that he expected AC to testify that he was dating SE, that they had engaged in sexual intercourse, and that he had tested positive for chlamydia. (R. 42:5.) Bell further alleged that police reports confirmed this information. (R. 42:5.) And, Bell argued, his attorneys had been ineffective for not further investigating AC. (R. 42:5–6.)

This inadequately alleged deficient performance. Bell claimed that his attorneys were deficient for failing to uncover information that he already knew at the time he pleaded no contest. That is not enough to prove ineffective assistance.

When a defendant claims that his counsel failed to investigate, he "must allege with specificity what the investigation would have revealed and how it would have altered the outcome of the case." *State v. Leighton*, 2000 WI App 156, ¶ 38, 237 Wis. 2d 709, 616 N.W.2d 126. This Court should not be "left to wonder" whether the correction of counsel's alleged failures would have contributed credible and reliable information to meet the defendant's burden of proof. *State v. Byrge*, 225 Wis. 2d 702, 724, 594 N.W.2d 388 (Ct. App. 1999). And when a postconviction motion does not allege sufficient facts to allow the circuit court to meaningfully assess the defendant's claim, the court can deny the motion without a hearing. *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 309–10.

The allegations of deficient performance in Bell's motion fell short of these pleading standards. The allegations asserted two pieces of information: that AC was having sex with SE, and that AC tested positive for chlamydia. This was established and undisputed information known to Bell before he decided to plead no contest.

Police reports indicated that SE and AC were having sex and that he had tested positive for chlamydia. (R. 42:15; 79:15.) At a pre-plea hearing, Bell's counsel said that one of the victim's boyfriends had tested positive. (R 100:8.) The State confirmed that it was the boyfriend of the older victim, SE. (R. 100:10, 13.) At a later hearing, defense counsel confirmed that he knew it was SE's boyfriend who had chlamydia. (R. 103:10–11.) And, at the same hearing, counsel suggested that Bell's defense might be to argue that AC, not Bell, assaulted the victims. (R. 103:10–11.)

Thus, before Bell pleaded no contest, he knew that AC and SE were sexually active and that AC had tested positive for chlamydia. This is all the information that Bell later claimed in his motion that his attorneys were ineffective for not uncovering. Bell's motion did not identify with any specificity what more counsel should have discovered. And without that information, he cannot now show that the outcome of his case would have been any different. This Court should conclude that Bell failed to adequately allege his claim that his attorneys were ineffective.

2. Bell has not shown that this evidence would have been admissible at trial.

This Court should also conclude that Bell's deficientperformance argument fails because he cannot prove that the evidence would have been admissible. Counsel does not act deficiently for failing to try to introduce inadmissible evidence. *See State v. Wirts*, 176 Wis. 2d 174, 181, 500 N.W.2d 317 (Ct. App. 1993).

Bell contends that the evidence would have been admissible to show that AC assaulted both SE and CB as third-party-perpetrator evidence under *Denny*. (Bell's Br. 14– 16.) He also argues that, while the evidence would have been barred under the rape-shield statute, it would nonetheless have been admissible under the exception to the statute established by *State v. Pulizzano*, 155 Wis. 2d 633, 456 N.W.2d 325 (1990). (Bell's Br. 16–23.) Both of his arguments are wrong.

a. Third-party-perpetrator evidence

Bell argues that, under *Denny*, he could have presented the evidence that AC and SE were having sex and that AC tested positive for chlamydia to establish that AC, not Bell, assaulted both victims. (Bell's Br. 14–16.) Bell's *Denny* argument fails because he has not established that this evidence created a legitimate tendency that AC committed the crimes.

A defendant seeking to admit evidence that a known third party could have committed the crime must satisfy all three prongs of the *Denny* "legitimate tendency" test. *State v. Wilson*, 2015 WI 48, ¶¶ 52, 64, 362 Wis. 2d 193, 864 N.W.2d 52. Those prongs involve the following inquiries: *First*, the motive prong asks, "[D]id the alleged third-party perpetrator have a plausible reason to commit the crime?" *Id*. ¶ 57. *Second*, the opportunity prong asks, "[D]oes the evidence create a practical possibility that the third party committed the crime?" *Id*. ¶ 58. *Third*, the direct-connection prong asks, "[I]s there evidence that the alleged third-party perpetrator actually committed the crime, directly or indirectly?" *Id*. ¶ 59.

Bell's argument fails at each step. He contends that the evidence established that AC was motivated by his desire for sexual gratification to have sex with SE. (Bell's Br. 15.) But he does not explain how that gave AC the motive to have sex with SE in the circumstances alleged in the complaint. The State charged Bell with having penis-to-vagina intercourse with SE on a couch in their house when she was 15 years old. (R. 2018AP1594-CR, 1:1–2.) It also charged Bell with touching SE's vagina over her clothes when she was seven years old. (R. 2018AP1594-CR, 1:1–2.) Bell does not say how the evidence explains SE's motive to do either of these things. Moreover, in his appellate brief, Bell does not even discuss a possible motive for AC to assault CB. (Bell's Br. 15.) This Court need not address whether Bell has shown one. *State v. Petitt*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646–47, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992). In his postconviction motion, Bell asserted that AC's motive to assault CB would also have been his desire for sexual gratification. (R. 42:6.) But there is no reason to assume that AC would be motivated to assault CB just because he was having sex with her older sister. This Court should reject Bell's speculative argument.

Next, Bell argues that AC's and SE's having sex necessarily gave AC the opportunity to commit the crimes. (Bell's Br. 15.) But Bell has to prove that AC had the opportunity to commit the specific acts involving SE that are alleged in the complaint, which he does not do. It is not enough for Bell to show that AC had a general opportunity to have sex with SE.

And, again, Bell does not explain how AC had the opportunity to assault CB. (Bell's Br. 15.) In his motion, he argued that CB's telling Bell during the phone call that SE and AC were having sex shows opportunity because it proves that they were together in the same area. (R. 42:7.) But this ignores that CB denied during the phone call that AC had done anything to her. (R. 9:2.) The call thus provides no basis for this Court to conclude that AC had the opportunity to assault CB.

Bell's *Denny* claim also fails on the direct-connection prong. He again points to the undisputed facts that SE and AC were having sex, and that AC had chlamydia. (Bell's Br. 16.) But he nowhere explains how this connects AC to the specific allegations in the complaints about the assaults of SE and CB. Bell has offered no evidence that AC could have committed the crimes against either victim. He has thus not shown that his attorneys were deficient for failing to file a motion to admit *Denny* evidence.

b. Constitutional exception to the rape-shield law.

Bell acknowledges that this evidence would have been inadmissible under the rape-shield law, Wis. Stat. § 972.11(2)(b), because it involves SE's past sexual conduct. (Bell's Br. 17.) He argues, though, that evidence would have been admissible under the *Pulizzano* exception to the rapeshield law. (Bell's Br. 16–21.) Bell claims that attorneys acted deficiently for not seeking to introduce the evidence on this basis. (Bell's Br. 16–21.)

The rape-shield law prohibits, with exceptions not applicable here, the introduction of evidence of a sexual assault victim's past sexual conduct. Wis. Stat. § 972.11(2)(b); State v. Dunlap, 2002 WI 19, ¶ 17, 250 Wis. 2d 466, 640 N.W.2d 112. Under certain circumstances, though, a defendant is allowed to present evidence barred by the statute when it is needed to protect the defendant's constitutional right to present a defense. *Pulizzano*, 155 Wis. 2d at 645–48.

To show that the evidence is admissible under *Pulizzano*, the defendant must satisfy a two-part inquiry. First, the defendant must establish: "(1) that the prior acts clearly occurred; (2) that the acts closely resembled those of the present case; (3) that the prior act is clearly relevant to a material issue; (4) that the evidence is necessary to the defendant's case; and (5) that the probative value of the evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect." *Pulizzano*, 155 Wis. 2d at 656.

If the defendant makes a sufficient showing under the first *Pulizzano* prong, the court then determines whether the State's interests in excluding the evidence are so compelling that they trump the defendant's right to present it. *Pulizzano*, 155 Wis. 2d at 656–57. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has characterized the *Pulizzano* test as a "narrow test to determine when a defendant's right to present a defense

should supersede the [S]tate's interest in protecting the complainant from prejudice and irrelevant inquiries." Dunlap, 250 Wis. 2d 466, ¶ 20.

This Court should reject Bell's argument that the evidence was admissible under the *Pulizzano* exception.

Initially, Bell's argument fails because it is premised on a new interpretation of *Pulizzano* that counsel could not have been deficient for making. Counsel is not deficient for failing to make novel legal arguments or to argue unsettled points of law. *See State v. Lemberger*, 2017 WI 39, ¶ 33, 374 Wis. 2d 617, 893 N.W.2d 232; *State v. McMahon*, 186 Wis. 2d 68, 84–85, 519 N.W.2d 621 (Ct. App. 1994).

Bell wants to introduce evidence of SE's sexual conduct to show that someone else committed the crimes against her and her sister. The *Pulizzano* exception, though, allows defendants to introduce otherwise inadmissible evidence in child sexual assault cases to show an alternate basis for the child's knowledge of sexual matters. See, e.g., State v. Carter, 2010 WI 40, ¶ 41, 324 Wis. 2d 640, 782 N.W.2d 695. Bell points to no published decision of this Court or the supreme court holding that defendants can use the exception in the way that he wants to use it. He points to State v. Herdon, 145 Wis. 2d 91, 98, 426 N.W.2d 347 (Ct. App. 1988), but that case involved evidence of victim's arrests for prostitution, not evidence that someone else might have committed the crimes. (Bell's Br. 18 n.7.) Because there is no case applying the *Pulizzano* exception in the way that Bell proposes, his counsel was not deficient for failing to argue it should apply to the evidence here.

Further, Bell's claim fails the *Pulizzano* test. Before addressing the test's prongs, the State notes that Bell limits his arguments to comparing the evidence to the facts of his more recent assault of SE. He does not address his assault of her when she was seven years old or his assault of CB. The State similarly limits its discussion.

The State concedes that Bell can show that the prior act clearly occurred. (Bell's Br. 19.) There is no question that SE and AC had sex. And the acts closely resemble each other in the sense that they both involve penis-to-vagina intercourse, though there is no suggestion that SE's and AC's sex involved the violence of Bell's assault. (R. 2018AP1594-CR, 1:1–2.) (Bell's Br. 19.)

The evidence is not highly relevant. Bell claims that he needed to use the evidence to refute any suggestion by the State that he gave SE chlamydia. (Bell's Br. 19.) But whether Bell or someone else gave SE this disease was not critical to the charges. The State did not, for example, charge Bell with sexually assaulting someone and giving them a disease. *See* Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(b). Moreover, this evidence was not necessary for Bell to argue that he did not give SE chlamydia. Bell did not have the disease, and the State had no medical evidence that he ever had. (R. 102:10–11; 109:11; 110:17.) He could rely on all this to refute any suggestion that he had infected SE.

Likewise, the evidence was not necessary to Bell's defense. If the State was allowed to argue that Bell gave SE chlamydia, Bell could challenge this argument by pointing out that he did not have the disease. He also could, of course, deny assaulting SE.

In addition, the prejudicial effect of the evidence vastly outweighed its probative value. Introducing evidence of SE's past sexual activity would violate the purpose of the rapeshield law, which makes evidence of a victim's past sexual conduct irrelevant and prejudicial to the truthfulness of the current allegations. *See Carter*, 324 Wis. 2d 640, ¶ 39; *Dunlap*, 250 Wis. 2d 466, ¶ 19. Moreover, as the circuit court recognized, "[W]ho had Chlamydia, and who did not, and who gave it to whom, was not determinative as to who sexually assaulted the victims." (R. 48:5.) There was no reason to let the jury risk making the inference prohibited by the rapeshield law just so Bell could introduce evidence on a tangential issue.

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